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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512
	CALLI E. OLSEN, 

                                  Employee, 

                                             Applicant,

                                                 v. 

CITY AND BOROUGH OF JUNEAU,

                                 Self-Insured Employer,

                                                Defendant.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200914290
AWCB Decision No. 11-0162

Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

On November 17, 2011


Callie Olsen’s (Employee) May 10, 2010, workers’ compensation claim (WCC) was heard before a two-member panel on August 16, 2011, in Juneau, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides represented Employee, who appeared and testified.  Attorney Richard Wagg represented the City & Borough of Juneau (Employer).  By agreement of the parties, the record was left open until August 30, 2011, for receipt of Employee’s supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and costs and any objection to the supplemental affidavit Employer chose to file.  Employer did not object to Employee’s supplemental affidavit, which was filed on August 23, 2011.  On August 24, 2011, the parties were advised the two-member panel was deadlocked in its deliberations.  Under 8 AAC 45.070(k), a third member was added to the panel to review the written record, evidence and hearing recording.  The record closed on November 10, 2011, after further deliberation.

ISSUES

Employee contends she is entitled to past and ongoing medical treatment for her right knee, low back and right leg symptoms, which she contends result from a work-related aggravation.  Employee contends since her aggravation, her pain has never resolved.  She seeks temporary total disability (TTD), permanent partial impairment benefits (PPI), past and ongoing medical treatment, reemployment benefits and attorney’s fees and costs.  She also seeks interest on unpaid TTD.

Employer concedes there was an initial aggravation of Employee’s preexisting condition but contends Employee’s continuing symptoms are not the result of the aggravation but are instead the result of Employee’s underlying preexisting conditions.  Employer contends, although Employee injured her low back and knee in 2009, her injuries consisted of strains, which resolved without permanent impairment attributable to the work injury.  Employer contends non-work related meralgia paresthetica is responsible for Employee’s right leg symptoms.  Employer contends Employee’s current symptoms are not work-related and no further medical treatment is needed attributable to the work injury, as opined by John W. Thompson, M.D., and John J. Lipon, D.O.  Therefore, it contends Employee is not entitled to medical treatment, additional TTD benefits, PPI, and reemployment benefits.  It contends, as no further benefits are due, Employee is not entitled to interest.

1) Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment for her right knee symptoms?

2) Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment for her low back and right leg symptoms?

3) Is Employee entitled to additional past TTD benefits?

4) Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?

5) Is Employee entitled to reemployment benefits? 

6) Is Employee entitled to interest on additional past TTD benefits?

7) Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) From approximately 1999 to March 2009, Employee worked in wastewater management, most recently as a lead operator in the state of Washington.  Her duties prior to 2005 involved heavy lifting.  In 2005, Employee became a lead operator and her duties no longer required heavy lifting or carrying heavy items.  They did include overseeing three treatment facilities, a laboratory, training new employees, directing work, and operating and maintaining equipment.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).
2) In the summer of 2000, Employee hurt her back hauling hay and treated with a chiropractor approximately six times.  Employee experienced right leg numbness and tingling prior to her work-related aggravation.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).
3) In March 2009, Employee moved to Juneau and began working as a Senior Wastewater Treatment Plant Operator Level III.  Employee’s job sometimes required her to work as a Press Operator.  When performing press operator duties, Employee was required to carry 50-pound bags of chemical up stairs and up a portable ladder and then dump the bag in the hopper.  She did this approximately three to four times a day when it was her day to perform this job, which was approximately 30 days, between March 2009 and September 2009, while working for Employer.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).
4) On May 17, 2009, Employee injured her right knee while working for Employer.  She twisted and hyperextended her right knee and leg while walking down cement and cobblestone stairs at work.  (Employee Hearing Testimony; Employee Hearing Brief at 2, August 3, 2011; Physician’s Report, Stephen Cameron, M.D., May 17, 2009).
5) On May 17, 2009, Stephen Cameron, M.D., treated Employee for right knee strain.  Employee returned to work after the injury, but continued to treat her knee with anti-inflammatory medication and ice for the next two months.  (Employee Hearing Testimony; Employee Hearing Brief at 2, August 3, 2011; Physician’s Report, Dr. Cameron, May 17, 2009; Chart Note, Dr. Cameron, May 17, 2009).
6) On May 20, 2009, Employee reported her May 17, 2009 injury to Employer.  (Report of Injury, May 26, 2009).
7) On September 17, 2009, Employee injured her right knee and low back while working for Employer.  At the wastewater treatment plant, influent waste flows to a large grinding and compacting machine called an Auger Monster.  If the Auger Monster is working properly, it dewaters inorganic material until the waste is almost dry, then shreds it and discharges it into a barrel.  The Auger Monster had not been working for several months prior to Employee’s September 2009 injury and frequently plugged up.  As a result, Employee had to walk down stairs to the Auger Monster, use pitchforks and rakes to clean out the inorganic material, fill garbage bags with the wet inorganic material, then carry the garbage bags back up three flights of stairs, out of the building, and across a parking lot to a dumpster.  Employee then had to lift the bags over her shoulder and dump them into the dumpster.  The bags of wet inorganic material weighed approximately 30-40 pounds.  Employee was carrying two heavy bags up the stairs when she felt a strain and pop and then sharp pain through her right knee and back.  (Employee Hearing Testimony; Kalamarides Hearing Representations; Report of Injury, September 25, 2009; Physician’s Report, Norvin Perez, M.D., September 19, 2009; Chart Note, John P. Bursell, M.D., October 15, 2009; SIME Report, John J. Lipon, D.O., February 12, 2011). 
8) On September 19, 2009, Norvin Perez, M.D., treated Employee for complaints of back and right knee pain and restricted Employee from returning to work.  (Chart Note, Dr. Perez, September 19, 2009).
9) On September 24, 2009, Dr. Perez continued Employee’s restriction from returning to work and referred her for right knee and lumbar spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).  (Chart Note, Dr. Perez, September 24, 2009; Radiologist Report, Janaki Ramanathan, M.D., October 1, 2009; Radiologist Report, Damon Sacco, M.D., October 2, 2009).
10) On October 1, 2009, the right knee MRI showed moderate patellofemoral joint space osteoarthritis and magnetic susceptibility artifact distal fibers of the patellar tendon.  (Radiologist Report, Dr. Ramanathan, October 1, 2009).
11) On October 2, 2009, the lumbar spine MRI showed disk degeneration of the L5-S1 level with central disk protrusion and moderate facet arthropathy, very mild disk degeneration/desiccation at the L1-2, L2-3 levels, and mild hypertrophic facet arthropathy at the L4-5 level.  (Radiologist Report, Dr. Sacco, October 2, 2009).
12) On October 6, 2009, Dr. Perez referred Employee to physiatrist John P. Bursell, M.D., at Juneau Bone and Joint Center for treatment of Employee’s low back and knee pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Perez, October 6, 2009).

13) On October 15, 2009, Employee reported right knee and low back pain, in addition to anterolateral right thigh numbness and tingling.  Dr. Bursell treated Employee’s right knee pain with a steroid injection, after which Employee’s knee pain persisted.  Employee was referred to physical therapy for her low back and right knee pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, October 15, 2009; Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, October 21, 2009; Physical Therapy Referral, Dr. Bursell, October 15, 2009).

14) On October 21, 2009, Dr. Bursell diagnosed a right knee strain and released Employee to light duty work, specifically limited climbing, bending and stopping and no lifting, pushing, pulling over 15 lbs.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, October 21, 2009; Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, October 21, 2009).

15) On October 30, 2009, Employee began physical therapy of her low back and right knee.  She was released to work with restrictions.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, October 30, 2009; Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, October 30, 2009).

16) On December 14, 2009, Employee received a steroid injection for her continued low back pain with right lumbar radiculitis.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, December 14, 2009).

17) After the injections, Employee initially felt better but the relief only lasted a few days, after which she continued to experience low back pain and knee pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, January 5, 2010).

18) On December 29, 2009, Employee was restricted from work for approximately one week in late December, but released to light duty work starting December 30, 2009.  (Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, December 29, 2009).  

19) On January 7, 2010, Dr. Perez restricted Employee from returning to work until January 12, 2010.  (Report to Employer, Dr. Perez, January 7, 2010).

20) On January 26, 2010, orthopedic surgeon John W. Thompson, M.D., examined Employee for an Employer’s Independent Medical Evaluation (EIME).  Dr. Thompson diagnosed: (1) patellofemoral arthritis right knee idiopathic in nature, (2) right knee strain superimposed on #1, (3) lumbar spondylosis with disc space narrowing at L1-2 and L5-S1, (4) facet arthrosis at multiple levels of the lumbar spine, (5) chronic low back pain superimposed on lumbar spondylosis, disc degeneration and facet arthrosis, and (6) probable neuralgia paresthetica in the right thigh unrelated to work activity.  Regarding the onset of Employee’s pain, he stated, “With the type and severity of the patellofemoral arthritis that she has it is going to begin to be symptomatic at some point in time and it would be my opinion that that is what happened in May.”  (EIME Report at 7, Dr. Thompson, January 26, 2010).  Dr. Thompson opined:
The work activity of 09/17/09 was in a sense the substantial cause of the development of her worsening symptomatology, i.e. lumbar strain and increased pain in the patellofemoral joint, but that work activity did not cause the underlying condition.  In the sense of “the substantial cause” the work activity did play a significant role in the increase in symptoms, but in my opinion the pre-existing conditions played the greatest role in bringing about this symptomatology…

With the degree of patellofemoral arthritis she has in her right knee this is really the main reason for her ongoing symptomatology….

I believe that both the right knee complaints and the lumbar spine complaints are largely due to the natural progression of the pre-existing disease with the work activities superimposed on these pre-existing conditions.  She has enough patellofemoral arthrosis in the right knee to explain the onset of her symptoms in May and her continued problems to this day.
(EIME Report at 8).  Dr. Thompson opined Employee’s September 17, 2009 work activity aggravated or combined with Employee’s underlying conditions, stating:

There is a note stating that the knee symptoms had persisted to some degree from May until September when the work activity of that day did aggravate the underlying patellofemoral arthritis.  She also developed low back pain which was again undoubtedly a combined condition; namely, she has facet arthrosis at multiple levels in the lumbar spine and disc degenerative changes at multiple levels and she was engaged in some heavy work and it would not be surprising that she would develop “a lumbar strain” superimposed on the lumbar spondylosis that has been diagnosed.

(EIME Report at 7).  He opined her right leg symptoms were caused by her non-work related meralgia paresthetica.  Dr. Thompson further opined Employee was unable to return to work as a wastewater utility operator without restrictions, but Dr. Thompson attributed this to her non-work related preexisting conditions and not the work injury.  (EIME Report at 9).  He also opined she was medically stable with regard to her work injury but not her preexisting conditions.  Dr. Thompson did not provide a PPI rating, stating no permanent impairment resulted from the work injury, but would be instead due to Employee’s preexisting conditions.  (EIME Report at 10).  Dr. Thompson did not specifically address whether autologous chondrocyte implantation is a reasonable or necessary procedure to treat Employee’s pain symptoms, but agreed Employee’s past treatment was reasonable and necessary to try to improve her pain.  (EIME Report at 9).   
21) On February 9, 2010, Dr. Bursell restricted Employee from returning to work.  (Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, February 9, 2010). 

22) On February 23, 2010, EIME physician Dr. Thompson, in response to Employer’s request for clarification of his report, opined Employee’s preexisting conditions are the substantial cause of her need for treatment.  (Letter from Dr. Thompson to Jody Jones, February 23, 2010).
23) On March 2, 2010, Employee was again restricted from returning to work.  (Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, March 2, 2010).
24) On March 11, 2010, Dr. Bursell released Employee to work without restrictions at Employee’s request.  Employer had informed Employee all benefits would cease based on 
Dr. Thompson’s report and Employee had to go back to work because she had no income.  Employee returned to work in the laboratory, where her duties primarily included collecting samples and transporting the samples to the laboratory.  Employee has not sought or obtained modification of this release.  (Work Excuse Form, Dr. Bursell, March 11, 2010; Employee Hearing Testimony; SIME Report, Dr. Lipon, February 12, 2011; Affidavit of Calli Olsen, October 1, 2011).
25) On March 15, 2010, Employer controverted all benefits based on Dr. Thompson’s EIME report.  (Controversion, March 12, 2010).
26) On March 17, 2010, Dr. Bursell disagreed with Dr. Thompson regarding causation of Employee’s injury and opined the work injury caused her current symptoms, stating, “Certainly the underlying degenerative changes are a factor in the ongoing symptoms, but if it were not for the injury she would likely be asymptomatic as she was prior to the injury.”  Dr. Bursell stated Employee was able to work with the pain and had returned to work, although she needed to be careful there.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March 17, 2010).
27) By the spring of 2010, Employee’s low back was pain free.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).
28) On April 19, 2010, Employee continued to have right knee pain and swelling.  Employee reported only temporary relief from the steroid injections and Dr. Bursell referred Employee to Daniel Harrah, M.D. for a surgical consultation.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, April 19, 2010; Chart Note, Dr. Harrah, April 29, 2010).
29) On April 29, 2010, after an evaluation, Dr. Harrah diagnosed right knee patellofemoral arthrosis and recommended an arthroscopic evaluation.  (Chart Note, Dr. Harrah, April 29, 2010).
30) On May 10, 2010, Employee filed a workers’ compensation claim.  Employee did not specifically request any benefits but stated she disagreed with Dr. Thompson’s EIME report.  (Workers’ Compensation Claim, April 24, 2010).

31) On June 2, 2010, Dr. Harrah performed the first of a two-part procedure; specifically, a right knee arthroscopy, chondroplasty of the lateral tibial plateau, patella, and trochlea, and intercondylar notch articular cartilage biopsy.  Dr. Harrah found patellar and trochlear defects.  The cartilage biopsy was for an autologous cartilage implantation procedure to be done at a later date.  During the first surgery, Employee understood Dr. Harrah went into her knee, looked around, cleaned up any arthritis or torn cartilage around her knee joint, and then extracted some cartilage cells to grow new cartilage cells in a laboratory.  At the second part of the procedure, Dr. Harrah would inject the new cartilage cells into her knee, which would grow, eliminating the need for future knee replacement.  (Operative Report, Dr. Harrah, June 2, 2010; Chart Note, Dr. Harrah, June 2, 2010; Employee Hearing Testimony).

32) In June 2010, Employee stopped working for Employer because of disagreements regarding Employer’s employment practices, but also because her knee pain was worsening.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).

33) On August 5, 2010, Dr. Harrah opined preexisting conditions caused Employee’s cartilage abnormality but the cause of Employee’s pain entirely relates to her work injury.  His opinion was based in part on Employee’s “twisting injury to the knee” and Employee reporting “no symptoms whatsoever prior to her September 17, 2009 work injury.”  Dr. Harrah reiterated his recommendation for a Carticel autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure, explaining conservative treatment has not been effective for alleviating Employee’s pain and the procedure should obviate the need for joint replacement surgery.  (Letter from Dr. Harrah to Joe Kalamarides, August 5, 2010).
34) Employer paid Employee TTD from September 21, 2009 through March 10, 2010.  (Compensation Report, January 24, 2011).
35) On February 12, 2011, Employee saw orthopedic surgeon John J. Lipon, D.O., for a Board ordered second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Lipon diagnosed (1) right knee strain related to her work injury, (2) right knee degenerative changes preexisting her work injury, (3) right meralgia paresthetica unrelated to the work injury, (4) lumbar strain related to the work injury, and (5) lumbar spine degenerative changes preexisting the work injury.  (SIME Report at 22-23, Dr. Lipon, February 12, 2011).  Dr. Lipon opined the substantial cause of Employee’s immediate right knee pain and swelling and lower back pain was her work-related strains but stated her current pain symptoms are unrelated to her work injury.  Specifically, he opined the substantial cause of Employee’s current disability and need for medical treatment is “the normal progression” of her right knee and lumbar spine preexisting degenerative changes.  (SIME Report at 26).  Dr. Lipon also opined Employee’s preexisting back and knee conditions were not aggravated, accelerated, or “lit up” by her September 2009 work injury or occupational duties.  (SIME Report at 22-23).  He stated, “Her underlying pre-existing conditions were concurrent conditions at the time of the industrial event, and they have continued to be symptomatic.”  He opined Employee’s right leg symptoms were caused by her meralgia paresthetica, related to obesity and unrelated to the work injury.  Dr. Lipon opined Employee’s work injury did not produce either a temporary or permanent change in Employee’s preexisting right knee or lumbar spine degenerative changes and her complaints and symptoms “are related in whole” to the progressive right knee and lumbar spine degenerative changes.  (SIME Report at 25-26).  He further opined:
Post employment, she most probably has had age related worsening of those pre-existing degenerative changes, with concurrent symptoms secondary to her occupational duties with the industrial claim date of September 17, 2009.

(SIME Report at 25).  According to Dr. Lipon, “The right knee pain and swelling was most probably related to the strain from the work activities with the claim date of September 17, 2009, and her pre-existing degenerative changes of the right knee.”  Further, he opined, “The lower back pain in September 2009 was most probably a combination of her lumbar strain and her pre-existing degenerative changes of the lumbar spine.”  (SIME Report at 23).  He stated, with regard to Employee’s work related strains, she could return to work without restrictions, and her inability to return to work since December 2, 2009, is unrelated to her work-related injuries; Employee reached medical stability with regard to her work-related strains no later than December 2, 2009, and Employee has no permanent impairment attributable to the work injury.  Dr. Lipon declined to provide a PPI rating for Employee’s current right knee condition because further treatment had been recommended.  (SIME Report at 31).  Dr. Lipon provided a 0% lower extremity PPI rating relating to Employee’s right knee strain, 0% impairment for Employee’s lumbar strain and 1% for Employee’s underlying, non-work related low back condition.  (SIME Report at 28, 31).  Dr. Lipon based his opinion in part on Employee’s records documenting knee and back complaints prior to her September 2009 injury.  (SIME Report at 22, 26).  He stated, “Ms. Olsen said that there was an industrial event that occurred in either April or May 2009 which caused her to have right knee pain…she stated her right knee never recovered.  Considering the above information, she probably had symptomatic degenerative changes of the right knee which predated this industrial claim of September 17, 2009.”  (SIME Report at 22).  He noted the September 17, 2009 work injury did not involve any direct trauma such as a fall.  (SIME Report at 22).  Dr. Lipon recommended no further treatment for the work injury and stated a “Carticel autologous chondrocyte implementation procedure” recommended by Dr. Harrah is relatively new and not widely utilized, is not to be used for generalized osteoarthritis, and has no long-term outcome studies.  (SIME Report at 27).  He stated if the procedure was done, it would be unrelated to Employee’s work injury.

36) On April 25, 2011, Employee amended her claim to include a request for TTD 01/07/10 ongoing, PPI, medical costs, reemployment benefits, and attorney’s fees and costs.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, April 25, 2011).

37) On June 15, 2011, Dr. Harrah was deposed and opined the reason Employee’s arthritis became symptomatic was because of what she was doing at work.  (Harrah Deposition 16:17-18, June 15, 2011).  He explained:
Most likely, and I can say with pretty much certainty, that at some point in her life that arthritis would have become symptomatic if she hadn’t had this injury.  But obviously, in this case, the arthritis was not symptomatic prior to her carrying the heavy bags up and down stairs at work.

(Harrah Deposition 16:19-24).  He stated, “In her case, she was doing work that puts a lot of pressure on the knee.  Lifting heavy bags certainly puts a lot of pressure on the joints, and therefore, it’s more likely for arthritis to become symptomatic as a result of that.”  (Harrah Deposition 18:4-8).  He further opined, “[Employee’s] need for medical treatment when it occurred was caused by the activity that she did at work.”  (Harrah Deposition 17:3-5).  He explained if Employee had a relatively sedentary job where she sat in a chair most of the time and walked around a little bit but did not carry anything heavy, then she may not have had symptoms for quite some time.  (Harrah Deposition 18:9-14).  Dr. Harrah agreed Employee’s weight is above her ideal body weight, there is evidence associating knee pain with weight, and losing weight can reduce pain within the knee from arthritis.  However, Dr. Harrah opined although Employee’s pain would likely lessen if she lost weight, it would not go away completely even if she got down to her ideal body weight.  (Harrah Deposition 22:15-23:13).  Dr. Harrah agreed if Employee did not have arthritis in her knee, she would not have any pain or need for treatment.  Dr. Harrah stated the underlying cause of Employee’s knee problem is her arthritis and the arthritis was not caused by the work injury.  He explained, however, Employee’s need for medical treatment when it occurred was caused by the activity that she did at work.  (Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  He also explained the reason Employee needs the recommended surgery is because of her pain, stating arthritis is not the same in everyone and pain is not necessarily related to the amount of arthritis.  (Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  He explained the amount of pressure she put on her arthritic knee caused the abnormal cartilage to break apart, causing Employee to go from asymptomatic to symptomatic.  (Harrah Deposition 25:14-26:1).  Although Dr. Harrah based his opinion on a September 17, 2009 work injury and the fact Employee was asymptomatic prior to this injury, he explained his opinion would not change even if Employee’s symptoms began while working for Employer in April or May 2009, explaining the work activity of lifting heavy bags put pressure on Employee’s knee, which in turn made Employee’s arthritis symptomatic.  (Harrah Deposition 17:25-18:14).  He stated:

There is obviously preexisting arthritis, which was not symptomatic since she reported no symptoms prior to the injury.  So it’s clear that the injury was sufficient to make her arthritis symptomatic.  We know that the arthritis was preexisting because the injury that she had or just carrying things up and down the stairs with a minor little twisting to the knee, that’s not sufficient to damage the cartilage.  But if she had preexisting damage to the cartilage, it certainly would be sufficient to make it symptomatic.  

When you have arthritis, you start out with degradation in the cartilage and initially it’s not symptomatic.  Once you get to a certain point, which is different in different patients, they -- the pain will become symptomatic…  I have seen people that have bone-on-bone arthritis that have very little pain, as an example.  So in her case, the reason that the arthritis became symptomatic was because of what she was doing at work. 

(Harrah Deposition 15:25-26:24).  Dr. Harrah recommended surgery because Employee “had previously been through everything that we can offer her without doing surgery.”  (Harrah Deposition 6:20-22).  Dr. Harrah explained autologous chondrocyte implantation is reasonable and necessary because it is the only procedure which will work for Employee short of knee replacement surgery, which is not a good option for young patients.  Dr. Harrah stated autologous chondrocyte implantation involves taking a biopsy of the cartilage from an area where it is not needed, sending it to a laboratory which enzymatically dissolves the tissue with the chondrocytes intact.  The cells are then grown up to a sufficient volume of cells and are shipped back to be injected under a membrane patch which covers the area where the cartilage is washed.  The patient’s own body cells then are used to repair the defect.  (Harrah Deposition 7:9-17).  Dr. Harrah stated studies have shown the procedure is long-lasting, durable and successful the vast majority of the time.  Moreover, the procedure has been done for at least ten to fifteen years and has at least a decade of research showing it works, explaining it is no longer considered an experimental procedure by orthopedic surgeons. (Harrah Deposition at 7:19-8:15).

38) Dr. Harrah is credible.  (Experience, judgment, observations).

39) Employee sought and was ready to undergo the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure in mid-2010; however, because Employer controverted her claim, she did not go forward with the procedure.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).
40) Following Employee’s work-related aggravation, her right knee pain has become more severe since her June 2010 knee surgery.  Although damaged cartilage around her knee joint was cleaned up, Employee will continue to have severe knee pain until she undergoes the second part of the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  Employee’s right knee condition is not yet medically stable, but it is anticipated the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure will return Employee to her pre-injury asymptomatic condition.  (Employee Hearing Testimony; Harrah Deposition).
41) Employee’s weight was greater prior to 2005.  Employee lost weight in 2005 and her weight has been stable since 2008.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).
42) Prior to Employee’s work injury, she used to be very physically active.  After the work injury, Employee no longer hikes or rides her bike because of her pain symptoms.  (Affidavit of Calli Olsen, October 1, 2011).
43) Employee is credible.  (Experience, judgment, observations).
44) Employee’s work activities carrying heavy chemical loads and wet debris up stairs between March 2009 and September 2009 put pressure on her knee, causing it to become increasingly symptomatic, culminating on September 17, 2009, when Employee felt a strain, pop and then sharp pain through her right knee.  This work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of Employee’s past need for medical treatment and current need for the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  (Record).

45) Mr. Kalamarides submitted two attorney’s fee affidavits.  The first itemized 45.65 hours of attorney time, at rates of $350.00 and $150.00 per hour for a total of $9,720.00 in attorney’s fees.  The second itemized an additional 25.8 hours of attorney time at rates of $350.00 and $150.00 per hour for a total of $7,570 in additional attorney’s fees and $1,647.03 in costs.  Total attorney’s fees and costs equal $18,937.03.  Employer did not object to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rate, hours or costs.  The requested hourly rates and itemized hours for Employee’s attorney’s fees and costs are reasonable.  Although Employee only prevailed on her claim for medical costs and attorney’s fees and costs, the time spent on the unsuccessful claims was de minimis.  The primary issue in this case was whether Employee’s work injury was the substantial cause of medical treatment for her right knee, and especially whether the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure is compensable.  Employee was successful on this main issue.  The attorney’s fees affidavits do not reflect any misapplied time.  A significant portion of these fees relate to Dr. Harrah’s deposition, which was a crucial component of Employee’s successful claim for medical benefits.  The affidavits reflect the time expended developing the case would be the same, whether or not the unsuccessful issues had been prosecuted.
46) At a Conference Committee on Senate Bill 130, then Assistant Attorney General Kristin Knudsen stated:

The board must look at the disability at the time the claim was filed or when medical treatment was occasioned by the employment.  If a person had 8 years of exposure [with a prior employer], continued to be employable and did not experience any symptoms, the subsequent employer would have a difficult time establishing that the latest employment was not the substantial factor in the need for medical treatment.  [Ms. Knudsen] emphasized the determination is based on the need for medical treatment at the time.

Senate Free Conference Committee Meeting Minutes at 1:35:19-1:39:56, S.B. 130, May 21, 2005, remarks by Assistant Attorney General Kristin Knudsen.
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute…

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the Employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  Id. at 534.  

AS 23.30.041.  Rehabilitation and reemployment of injured workers.
. . .

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if
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(4) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether the injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions 

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; …

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.  Id. (emphasis omitted).  The presumption application involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome at the second stage when the employer presents substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility of the parties and witnesses is not examined at the second stage.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985).  
If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 150 at 8 (March 25, 2011).  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the fact finders the facts being asserted are probably true.  See Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  In the third step, the evidence is weighed, inferences are drawn from the evidence, and credibility is considered.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g., Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005).  The board has the sole discretion to determine the weight of the medical testimony and reports.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney Fees. (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation. When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded. In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection .145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc., 160 P.3d at 150-51.  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them.  Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation. (a) Compensation under this chapter shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the Employer. . . .

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the Employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .   

. . .

(d) If the Employer controverts the right to compensation, the Employer shall file with the division and send to the Employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the Employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death. . . .

(e)  If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of the installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the Employer that owing to conditions over which the Employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the time period prescribed for the payment.  The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid.

. . .

(p) An Employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due. . . .

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.190. Compensation for permanent partial impairment; rating guides.  (a) In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee’s percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person. The percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person is the percentage of impairment to the particular body part, system, or function converted to the percentage of impairment to the whole person as provided under 

(b) of this section. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041, but the compensation may not be discounted for any present value considerations.

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, except that an impairment rating may not be rounded to the next five percent. The board shall adopt a supplementary recognized schedule for injuries that cannot be rated by use of the American Medical Association Guides.

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall be reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury. If the combination of a prior impairment rating and a rating under (a) of this section would result in the employee being considered permanently totally disabled, the prior rating does not negate a finding of permanent total disability.

8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an  Injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The Employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the Employee. . . .

. . .

(2) on late-paid medical benefits to 

. . .

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.  

. . .

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.   If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.

 
(c) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an attorney fee may not be collected from an applicant without board approval.  A request for approval of a fee to be paid by an applicant must be supported by an affidavit showing the extent and character of the legal services performed. . . . 


(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.


(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim…

ANALYSIS

1)  Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment for her right knee?

It is undisputed Employee has arthritis in her right knee which preexisted her work with Employer.  A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought.  This is known as the Thornton rule.  Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Bd., 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).

A)  Post-2005 Causation Question

In Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 317 (Alaska 1981), the Alaska Supreme Court addressed the causation question in aggravation, acceleration or combination cases and held a claim is compensable upon a showing employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a preexisting condition to produce disability.  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 315 (citing Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966); Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 595-96 (Alaska 1979); Hawkins v. Green Associated, 559 P.2d 118, 119 (Alaska 1977); Beauchamp v. Employers Liability Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993, 997 (Alaska 1970); 1 A. Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law s 12.20 at 276 (1978)).   Liability is to be imposed whenever employment is established as a causal factor in the disability and a causal factor is a legal cause if “it is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm” or disability at issue.  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 317.  The court stated, therefore, the causation question before the board in Smallwood was whether employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with an employee’s preexisting condition so as to be a substantial factor in bringing about his disability.  Id. 

Smallwood, DeYonge and Rogers & Babler were based on the causation standard applied in workers’ compensation cases prior to the 2005 amendments to the Act, which imposed liability whenever employment was “a substantial factor” in an employee’s disability, death or need for medical treatment.  City of Seward v. Hansen, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 146 at 10 (Jan. 21, 2011).  In Rogers & Babler, the Alaska Supreme Court discussed the factors to be considered when determining whether an aggravation, acceleration or combination is “a substantial factor” in the resulting disability.  It adopted the “but for” cause-in-fact test in cases involving a preexisting condition and an aggravation, but held the test does not mean a claimant must prove “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not be disabled.  Instead, the claimant only must prove “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, the claimant must prove the aggravation, acceleration or combination was “a substantial factor” in the resulting disability.  Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 533.

However, in 2005, the legal definition of causation changed to narrow the Act’s scope of coverage.  For an injury occurring on or after November 7, 2005, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or need for medical treatment and award benefits if employment is, in relation to all other causes, “the substantial cause” of the disability, death or need for medical treatment.  City of Seward v. Hansen, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 146 at 11-14 (Jan. 21, 2011).  When causes are compared, only one cause can be “the substantial cause.”  Id.  

Although Smallwood, DeYonge and Rogers & Babler were decided prior to the 2005 amendments to the Act, the reasoning behind these cases is persuasive, and applicable to this case.  The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (Commission) addressed a similar issue in the memorandum decision of State of Alaska v. Dennis, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 036 at 11-13 (March 27, 2007).  There, the Commission stated the “last injurious exposure” rule provides, “The last employer (1) whose employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with the prior injury, (i.e. is a cause in fact) and (2) whose employment is a legal cause of the disability is liable for the whole payment of the disability compensation.”  Id. at 11 (emphasis in original).  The Commission then explained the 2005 amendments to the Act only modified the definition of legal cause from “a substantial factor” to “the substantial cause.”  The amendments did not abrogate the “last injurious exposure” rule itself, which still operates to prevent apportionment of liability of injury between employers.  Id.  Analogously, the 2005 amendments did not abrogate the Thornton rule but did change the causation standard from “a substantial factor” to “the substantial cause.”

Applying the post-2005 causation standard as set forth in Hansen to the persuasive reasoning of Smallwood, DeYonge, Rogers & Babler, and Dennis, the causation question in this case becomes whether Employee’s employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition so as to be the substantial cause in bringing about her need for medical treatment for her right knee.

B) Did Employee’s employment aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting knee condition?

Employee attached the presumption of compensability employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition based on her treating physicians Drs. Bursell and Harrah’s opinions Employee’s worsened condition and increased symptoms were caused by her job duties.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March 17, 2010; Letter from Dr. Harrah to Joe Kalamarides, August 5, 2010; Harrah Deposition 16:17-18; 17:3-5; 18:9-14; 25:14-26:24, June 15, 2011).  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability to Employee’s claim her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her underlying preexisting knee condition.

Employer rebuts the presumption with Drs. Thompson and Lipon’s reports.  Their reports, standing alone and without weighing the reports against the evidence establishing the presumption, provide substantial evidence a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing Employee’s worsened condition and increased symptoms.  Regarding the onset of Employee’s pain in May 2009, Dr. Thompson stated, “With the type and severity of the patellofemoral arthritis that she has it is going to begin to be symptomatic at some point in time and it would be my opinion that that is what happened in May.”  (EIME Report at 7).  Dr. Lipon stated, “For clarification, there was no aggravation, acceleration, or a combination with the pre-existing condition that caused her disability or need for medical treatment” for those approximately four weeks after the September 2009 work injury.  He explained, “Her underlying pre-existing conditions were concurrent conditions at the time of the industrial event, and they have continued to be symptomatic.”  (SIME Report at 25).

Once Employer has rebutted the presumption of compensability, Employee must prove her claim employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting knee condition by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee meets this burden.  Dr. Harrah explained the type of work Employee was doing aggravated Employee’s knee problem, making it symptomatic.  He stated, “In her case, she was doing work that puts a lot of pressure on the knee.  Lifting heavy bags certainly puts a lot of pressure on the joints, and therefore, it’s more likely for arthritis to become symptomatic as a result of that.”  (Harrah Deposition 18:4-8).  He explained if Employee had a relatively sedentary job where she sat in a chair most of the time and walked around a little bit but did not carry anything heavy, then she may not have had symptoms for quite some time.  (Harrah Deposition 18:9-14).  Dr. Harrah acknowledged the underlying cause of Employee’s knee problem is her arthritis and the arthritis was not caused by the work injury.  He explained, however, the symptoms are a result of her work injury.  (Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  He opined the amount of pressure Employee put on her arthritic knee caused the abnormal cartilage to break apart, causing Employee to go from asymptomatic to symptomatic.  (Harrah Deposition 25:14-26:1).  Dr. Harrah’s thorough and consistent testimony is given the greatest weight on this issue.

Dr. Thompson opined, “I believe … the right knee complaints … are largely due to the natural progression of the pre-existing disease with the work activities superimposed on these pre-existing conditions.”  He also stated: 

The work activity of 09/17/09 was in a sense the substantial cause of the development of her worsening symptomatology, i.e. lumbar strain and increased pain in the patellofemoral joint, but that work activity did not cause the underlying condition.  In the sense of “the substantial cause” the work activity did play a significant role in the increase in symptoms, but in my opinion the pre-existing conditions played the greatest role in bringing about this symptomatology…

(EIME Report at 8).  He also expressly opined Employee’s work activity aggravated her underlying arthritis, stating, “There is a note stating that the knee symptoms had persisted to some degree from May until September when the work activity of that day did aggravate the underlying patellofemoral arthritis.”  (EIME Report at 7).  Dr. Thompson thus agreed Employee’s underlying arthritis and work activities played substantial roles in Employee’s aggravated condition and increased symptoms, although Dr. Thompson attributes the greatest role to Employee’s preexisting condition.  Dr. Thompson’s report further supports Dr. Harrah’s testimony Employee’s employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting knee condition.

Dr. Lipon opined Employee’s work activities did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with her underlying condition.  Dr. Lipon based his opinion on the fact Employee had pain complaints and symptoms prior to September 17, 2009 and did not have direct trauma to the knee, such as a fall.  (SIME Report at 22-28).  However, aggravation of a preexisting condition may be found absent any specific traumatic event.  Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 534.  Consequently, Dr. Lipon’s opinion is given less weight than Dr. Harrah’s on this issue.
It is undisputed Employee has arthritis in her right knee which preexisted her work with Employer, and her arthritis was potentially debilitating.  (Harrah Deposition 15:25-16:24; SIME Report at 26, Dr. Lipon; EIME Report at 7-10, Dr. Thompson).  It is also undisputed, based on Employee’s credible testimony, which Employer did not rebut, (1) Employee had to carry, and did in fact carry, very heavy chemical bags and wet debris up numerous flights of stairs while working for Employer, (2) Employee did not have any right knee pain complaints or symptoms, or need medical treatment for her right knee, prior to working for Employer, and (3) Employee began suffering and treating severe right knee pain while working for Employer.  Here, based on Employee’s credible testimony and Dr. Harrah’s credible and thorough testimony, Employee’s work activities carrying heavy loads of chemical and wet debris up stairs between March 2009 and September 2009, put pressure on her knee, causing Employee’s knee to become increasingly symptomatic, culminating on September 17, 2009, when Employee felt a strain, pop and then sharp pain through her right knee.  Dr. Harrah stated his opinion would be the same whether Employee first felt pain symptoms in May 2009 or September 2009.  He clarified the reason Employee became symptomatic was because of her work activity carrying heavy bags up stairs and stated, “She was doing work that puts a lot of pressure on the knee.  Lifting heavy bags certainly puts a lot of pressure on the joints and, therefore, it’s more likely for arthritis to become symptomatic as a result of that.”  (Harrah Deposition 17:3-5; 18:4-8).  

Dr. Thompson agreed Employee’s work activities, and not a specific trauma, aggravated her underlying condition.  (EIME Report at 7-8).  Dr. Lipon’s opinion was based on a mistaken understanding of what constituted Employee’s “work injury.”  Evidence has credibly shown Employee’s pain symptoms prior to September 17, 2009, were caused by her work activity, which put significant pressure on her knee, culminating on September 17, 2009.  Consequently, Dr. Lipon’s opinion is given less weight.  Finally, even Dr. Lipon acknowledged Employee’s work duties caused pain symptoms, stating, “Post employment, she most probably has had age related worsening of those pre-existing degenerative changes, with concurrent symptoms secondary to her occupational duties with the industrial claim date of September 17, 2009.”  (SIME Report at 25) (emphasis added).
Prior to her work activities with Employer, Employee did not experience pain in her right knee, nor did she seek treatment for arthritic knee pain.  This lack of symptoms or need for medical treatment, coupled with Dr. Harrah’s explanation of how work aggravated, accelerated and combined with Employee’s preexisting knee arthritis, is the evidence given greatest weight.  
Dr. Thompson acknowledged work aggravated the preexisting condition.  Dr. Lipon’s conclusion work did not aggravate Employee’s preexisting condition was based on lack of direct trauma such as a fall and his misunderstanding of what constituted Employee’s work injury.  His opinion is given less weight.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition.

C)  Was Employee’s work-related aggravation, acceleration or combination the substantial cause, in relation to other causes, of her need for medical treatment for her right knee and, if so, is the past and recommended future treatment reasonable and necessary?

The presumption of compensability also applies to this factual dispute.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability with regard to this condition based upon her treating physicians Drs. Bursell’s and Harrah’s opinions.  They both opined Employee’s job duties and work injury caused Employee’s worsened condition and increased pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March 17, 2010; Letter from Dr. Harrah to Joe Kalamarides, August 5, 2010; Harrah Deposition 16:17-18, June 15, 2011).  They also opined medical treatment for Employee’s knee subsequent to her reported work injury was to treat this worsened condition and increased pain.  (Chart Notes, Dr. Bursell, February 16, 2010, February 22, 2010, and March 2, 2010; Letter from Dr. Harrah to Joe Kalamarides, August 5, 2010; Harrah Deposition 17:3-5; Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  Dr. Harrah opined Employee’s need for the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure is because of her pain.  (Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim for medical treatment for her right knee. 

To rebut the presumption, Employer relies on the opinions of Dr. Thompson and Dr. Lipon.  Dr. Thompson opined Employee’s right knee symptoms were caused by the combination of her work activities and her preexisting patellofemoral arthritis, but stated the preexisting conditions played a greater role in Employee’s right knee condition and symptoms.  (EIME Report at 8).  He stated the treatment she had been provided was reasonable and necessary for improving her symptomatology, but opined the treatment was primarily due to her preexisting conditions.  (EIME Report at 9).  Dr. Lipon opined the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment after December 2, 2009, is “the normal progression” of her right knee preexisting degenerative changes.  He stated Employee’s right knee strain likely resolved with conservative treatment by December 2, 2009.  (SIME Report at 25-28).  Drs. Thompson and Lipon’s reports standing alone rebut the presumption because they present substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing Employee’s need for medical treatment for her right knee.

Once Employer has rebutted the presumption of compensability, Employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee’s injury occurred after November 7, 2005, and consequently Employee must prove employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition so as to be the substantial cause in bringing about her need for medical treatment for her right knee, including the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  Employee meets this burden.

The evidence as a whole supports Employee’s work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of her need for medical treatment, including the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.   Employee’s work duties aggravated or combined with her preexisting knee condition, which caused her need for medical treatment at this time, in this way and in this manner.  See, e.g., Senate Free Conference Committee Meeting Minutes at 1:35:19-1:39:56, S.B. 130, May 21, 2005, remarks by Kristin Knudsen, Assistant Attorney General, Department of Law:

The board must look at the disability at the time the claim was filed or when medical treatment was occasioned by the employment.  If a person had 8 years of exposure [with a prior employer], continued to be employable and did not experience any symptoms, the subsequent employer would have a difficult time establishing that the latest employment was not the substantial factor in the need for medical treatment.  [Ms. Knudsen] emphasized the determination is based on the need for medical treatment at the time.

See also Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 533.  

Dr. Lipon opined Employee’s need for medical treatment is solely due to the progressive degenerative changes of her right knee.  (SIME Report at 25-26).  However, this opinion was based on his determination Employee’s work activities did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with her preexisting condition and a mistaken understanding of the origin of Employee’s pain symptoms prior to September 2009 and what constituted Employee’s work injury.  Dr. Lipon’s report is given less weight on this issue.

Dr. Thompson opined, “Employee’s preexisting conditions are the substantial cause of her need for treatment.”  (Letter from Dr. Thompson to Jody Jones, February 23, 2010).  Dr. Thompson attributed Employee’s increased right knee symptoms primarily to the severity of patellofemoral arthritis in Employee’s right knee.  (EIME Report, Dr. Thompson at 7-8).  He states, “She has enough patellofemoral arthritis in the right knee to explain the onset of her symptoms in May and her continued problems to this day.”  Id. at 8.  Dr. Harrah, on the other hand, credibly and persuasively explained there is not a good correlation between the amount of arthritis and pain symptoms.  He stated:

The reason for surgery is because of pain… arthritis isn’t the same in everyone.  I have some patients that are bone on bone and I give them a shot every once in a while and they’re perfectly fine and they’re active and hiking.  I have other patients who have relatively minor arthritis that have a lot of pain with it.  So pain isn’t necessarily related to the amount of arthritis.  There is not a good correlation between the two.  So the reason that she would need surgery is because of pain.

(Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  Consequently, Dr. Thompson’s opinion is given less weight than Dr. Harrah’s.  
Dr. Harrah thoroughly explained the reason for Employee’s medical treatment, and specifically her recommended knee surgery, was not because of her arthritis but was instead because of her pain.  As he explained, the work activity aggravated her right knee causing it to become symptomatic and the medical treatment provided and recommended was to treat Employee’s pain symptoms.  Although Dr. Harrah agreed at some point Employee would have become symptomatic even if she had not had to carry heavy bags up stairs at work, Employee’s work activity was the substantial cause of her past and present need for treatment, stating, “Her need for medical treatment when it occurred was caused by the activity that she did at work.”  (Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  
There is clearly disagreement among the physicians regarding the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment.  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment and impose liability is a subjective determination.  See, e.g., Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d at 534.  When doctors’ opinions disagree, the board determines which has greater credibility.  Moore v. Afognak Native Corp., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 087 at 11 (Aug. 25, 2008).  Dr. Harrah’s thorough and extensive testimony is the most credible testimony on this issue.  Although his causation opinion was originally based on an incorrect assumption Employee had no right knee complaints prior to September 2009, his deposition testimony clarified his opinion Employee’s work activity of lifting heavy bags put pressure on Employee’s knee, which in turn made Employee’s arthritis symptomatic.  He stated, “The reason that the arthritis became symptomatic was because of what she was doing at work… the arthritis was not symptomatic prior to her carrying the heavy bags up and down stairs at work.”  (Harrah Deposition 24:2-25:7).  
Dr. Thompson pointed to Employee’s genu valgum and obesity as causal factors in Employee’s knee pain.  However, Employee credibly testified she did not have any prior right knee pain complaints or symptoms, or need medical treatment for her right knee, prior to working for Employer, and she began suffering severe right knee pain and began treating this pain while working for Employer.  Other causes, such as genu valgum, her weight and the normal progression of her underlying arthritis, may be a substantial factor in her need for medical treatment but are not the substantial cause.  Employee credibly testified from 2005 until she began working for Employer, her job duties did not require heavy lifting or carrying heavy items, Employee lost weight in 2005, and her weight has been stable since 2008.  (Employee Hearing Testimony).  Prior to September 2009, Employee was very physically active.  After the work-related aggravation of her arthritis, Employee no longer hikes or rides a bike because of her pain symptoms.  (Affidavit of Calli Olsen, October 1, 2011).  This evidence, in addition to Dr. Harrah’s persuasive medical testimony, is the most probative on the issue of whether Employee’s work-related aggravation was the substantial cause of her need for medical treatment, including the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  Comparing the relative contribution of the work injury, Employee’s work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of her past need for medical treatment and her current need for the recommended procedure.

Employer’s contention this is a case where employment is “the proverbial straw that broke the camel’s back” is not accepted.  (Employer’s Hearing Brief at 11).  This case does not involve relatively sedentary job duties such as merely sitting, walking up and down stairs, or walking around.  It involves specific job duties of carrying heavy weight of 50 pounds or more, which put pressure on Employee’s arthritic right knee and caused her to have pain symptoms.  Dr. Harrah opined Employee may not have had symptoms for quite some time if she had had a job where she sat in a chair most of the time and walked around a little bit but did not carry anything heavy.  (Harrah Deposition 17:25-18:14).  Additionally, Employee’s aggravation was not temporary or transient.  She missed significant time from work and sought immediate medical attention, once her work activity caused her underlying condition and symptoms to worsen until she reached a point where she could no longer work and needed medical treatment.  (Employee Hearing Testimony; Compensation Report, January 24, 2011; Chart Note, Dr. Perez, September 19, 2009).  

The preponderance of the evidence demonstrates Employee’s work activities of carrying heavy chemical loads and wet debris up stairs between March 2009 and September 2009 put pressure on Employee’s knee, causing the knee to become increasingly symptomatic.  This culminated on September 17, 2009, when Employee felt a strain, pop and then sharp pain through her right knee.  This work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of Employee’s past need for medical treatment. Accordingly, her claim for past medical benefits related to her right knee will be granted.  

A work-related injury may result in temporary disability, and treatment to restore an employee to pre-injury condition, without necessarily being the substantial cause in bringing about the need for all future medical treatment of the underlying condition.  O’Hara v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Safeway Inc., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 093 at 16 (December 4, 2008).  Where a claimant receives conflicting medical advice, the claimant may choose to follow the claimant’s own doctor’s advice, so long as the choice of treatment is reasonable.  Hibdon, 989 P.2d at 732.  

Here, the only future treatment recommended by Employee’s physicians is an autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  Employee asserted her claim for these medical costs on April 25, 2011.  She sought and was ready to undergo the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure in mid-2010; however, treatment was delayed because Employer controverted her claim.  
The work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of Employee’s current need for this procedure and the procedure is reasonable and necessary to treat Employee’s work-related aggravation.  The autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure is reasonable and necessary to restore Employee to her asymptomatic, pre-injury status and will be granted.

Employee attaches the presumption of compensability autologous chondrocyte implantation surgery is reasonable and necessary treatment.  Dr. Harrah explained why the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure is reasonable and necessary.  Employee first tried conservative treatment, which was unsuccessful in alleviating her pain.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, January 5, 2010, March 17, 2010, April 19, 2010).  Employee had previously been through everything offered her without doing surgery.  (Harrah Deposition 6:20-22).  Dr. Harrah indicated the surgery is the only treatment which will work for Employee short of knee replacement surgery, which is not a good option for young patients.  Other procedures commonly used to repair damaged cartilage involve drilling a few holes in the bone to allow the bone marrow to heal, which does not work in cases, like Employee’s, involving the patellofemoral region where there is degradation in the trochlea.  (Harrah Deposition 6:22-7:8).  Studies have shown the recommended procedure is long-lasting, durable and successful the vast majority of the time.  The procedure has been done for at least ten to fifteen years and has at least a decade of research showing it works, and it is no longer considered an experimental procedure by orthopedic surgeons.  (Harrah Deposition at 7:19-8:15).  Dr. Bursell’s opinion corroborates the surgery recommendation.  He referred Employee to Dr. Harrah to discuss surgical options, because the conservative course of treatment was unsuccessful.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, April 19, 2010).  This evidence is sufficient to establish the presumption the procedure Employee seeks is reasonable and necessary for her process of recovery.

Viewed in isolation and not weighing the evidence, Employer is able to rebut the presumption.  Dr. Thompson opined Employee’s preexisting conditions are the substantial cause of her need for treatment.  Dr. Thompson attributed Employee’s increased right knee symptoms primarily to the severity of patellofemoral arthritis in Employee’s right knee, not her work activities.  Dr. Lipon questioned use of autologous chondrocyte implantation surgery in Employee’s case, stating it is a relatively new procedure which is not widely used and has no long-term outcome studies.  He instead recommended a conservative approach of weight loss, medication and home exercise.  (SIME Report at 12).
Employee has proven her claim for the procedure by a preponderance of the evidence.  Dr. Lipon stated Dr. Harrah recommended a Carticel autologous chondrocyte implementation procedure.  (SIME Report at 27) (emphasis added).  This is incorrect.  Dr. Harrah recommended an autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  Further, Dr. Lipon asserted the procedure is relatively new, not widely utilized, is not to be used for generalized osteoarthritis, and has no long-term outcome studies.  This failure to correctly identify the procedure and Dr. Lipon’s inaccurate statements regarding the use and efficacy of the procedure illustrate Dr. Lipon is not as familiar with the procedure as Dr. Harrah.  Studies and a decade of research have shown the procedure is long-lasting, durable and successful in the vast majority of cases.  The procedure has been done for at least ten to fifteen years and is no longer considered an experimental procedure by orthopedic surgeons.  Additionally, Dr. Lipon did not rule out the procedure, but instead stated if it was done, it would be unrelated to Employee’s claim.     Dr. Lipon’s opinion is consequently given less weight than Dr. Harrah’s.  

Dr. Thompson’s opinion is also given less weight than Dr. Harrah’s.  Previously, it was found Employee’s work aggravated, accelerated and combined with a preexisting condition and caused the pain for which autologous chondrocyte implantation surgery has been prescribed.  Dr. Thompson did not specifically address whether autologous chondrocyte implantation is a reasonable or necessary procedure to treat Employee’s pain symptoms.  He merely stated the substantial cause of the need for further treatment is related to Employee’s preexisting condition.   

Weighing the conflicting opinions, Dr. Harrah’s detailed and thorough explanation of his reason for recommending the procedure is the most persuasive of the three.  As an initial matter, the medical evidence shows conservative treatment has not been successful in treating Employee’s pain symptoms.  Dr. Harrah opined although losing weight would help, Employee’s pain would not go away completely even if she lost weight, stating, “I think she would still have some symptoms but I think they would be less.”  (Harrah Deposition at 22:19-23:13).  The testimonial evidence presented by Dr. Harrah, and corroborated by Dr. Bursell, is sufficient to establish the procedure Employee seeks is reasonable and necessary for her process of recovery.  Employee’s claim for an autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure will be granted.
2)  Is Employee entitled to past and continuing medical treatment for her low back and right leg symptoms?

Applying the post-2005 causation standard as set forth in Hansen to the persuasive reasoning of Smallwood, DeYonge, Rogers & Babler, and Dennis, the causation question in this case becomes whether Employee’s employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition so as to be the substantial cause of her need for medical treatment for her low back and right leg.
A) Did Employee’s employment aggravate, accelerate or combine with Employee’s preexisting low back condition and right leg conditions?

Employee attached the presumption of compensability to her claim her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition, based on Dr. Bursell’s opinion.  Dr. Bursell opined Employee’s increased symptoms were caused by her work injury.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March 17, 2010).  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability and cause it to attach to Employee’s claim her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her underlying preexisting conditions.

Employer rebuts the presumption with Drs. Thompson and Lipon’s reports.  They both opine Employee’s preexisting conditions played a greater role in causing Employee’s increased symptoms.  (EIME Report at 8; SIME Report at 25).  Drs. Thompson and Lipon’s reports standing alone are substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in worsening Employee’s low back and right leg symptoms.  Their reports also provide an alternative explanation for Employee’s symptoms.

Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting low back and right leg conditions.  Dr. Thompson agreed Employee’s work activities aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting conditions.  (EIME Report at 7-8).  Dr. Lipon opined Employee’s work activities did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with her underlying conditions but acknowledged her September 17, 2009 injury caused pain symptoms in Employee’s low back.  He also opined, “the lower back pain in September 2009 was most probably a combination of her lumbar strain and her pre-existing degenerative changes of the lumbar spine.” (SIME Report at 23).  He acknowledged Employee’s work duties caused pain symptoms, stating, “Post employment, she most probably has had age related worsening of those pre-existing degenerative changes, with concurrent symptoms secondary to her occupational duties with the industrial claim date of September 17, 2009.”  (SIME Report at 25) (emphasis added).  His opinion Employee’s employment did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with her preexisting low back condition is inconsistent with his acknowledgement the worsening low back symptoms was a combination of a work injury and a preexisting lumbar spine condition.  Dr. Lipon does not explain or clarify this inconsistency.  It is consequently given less weight.  Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition.
B) Was Employee’s work-related aggravation, acceleration or combination the substantial cause, in relation to other causes, of her need for medical treatment for her low back and right leg?

The presumption of compensability applies to this factual dispute.  Employee attached the presumption of compensability with regard to these conditions based on the opinion of her treating physician Dr. Bursell, who opined Employee’s pain was caused by her work injury and the low back and right leg treatment subsequent to her injury was to treat this pain.  (Chart Note, October 15, 2009, Dr. Bursell, October 30, 2009, December 14, 2009, January 5, 2010, March 17, 2010).  This evidence is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability for Employee’s medical treatment claim for her low back and right leg.

To rebut the presumption, Employer relies on the opinions of Drs. Thompson and Lipon.  
Dr. Thompson opined Employee’s low back symptoms were caused by the combination of her work activities and her preexisting low back condition, but stated the preexisting conditions played a greater role in Employee’s low back symptoms.  (EIME Report at 7-8).  The treatment she received was reasonable and necessary for improving her symptomatology, but Dr. Thompson opined the need for the treatment was primarily due to her preexisting conditions.  (EIME Report at 9).  He opined her right leg symptoms were caused by her non-work related meralgia paresthetica.  (EIME Report at 7).  

Dr. Lipon opined the substantial cause of Employee’s immediate low back pain was her work-related strain and her current low back and right leg pain symptoms are unrelated to her work injury.  The substantial cause of Employee’s current disability and need for medical treatment is solely due to “the normal progression” of her lumbar spine preexisting degenerative changes and non-work related meralgia paresthetica.  (SIME Report at 23-26).  Employee’s low back strain likely resolved with her conservative treatment and without permanent impairment no later than December 2, 2009.  (SIME Report at 25, 28).  Employee’s underlying preexisting conditions were concurrent conditions at the time of her work injury, which have continued to be symptomatic.  (SIME Report at 25).  

Drs. Thompson and Lipon’s reports standing alone present substantial evidence a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing Employee’s symptoms and need for medical treatment for her low back and right leg.  Employer rebuts the presumption Employee’s need for medical treatment for her low back and right leg is compensable.

Employee does not meet her burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence her need for past and continuing medical care for her low back and right leg arose out of and in the course of her employment with Employer.  The evidence as a whole does not support Employee’s work-related aggravation is the substantial cause of her need for medical treatment.   Although Employee’s work duties aggravated or combined with her preexisting low back and right leg conditions to require some past medical treatment, Employee’s symptoms were back to pre-injury status by the spring of 2010.  (Employee Hearing Testimony; Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March17, 2010).

Dr. Bursell based his opinion of work-relatedness on Employee’s lack of symptoms prior to her work-related aggravation.  Employee testified she experienced low back and right leg symptoms prior to working for Employer.  Dr. Bursell’s opinion is consequently given less weight because he was unaware of Employee’s preexisting low back and right leg symptoms.  
Dr. Harrah does not opine on the cause of Employee’s low back and right leg symptoms.  

Significantly, unlike Employee’s knee condition, there is no opinion Employee’s specific job duties of carrying heavy weight of 50 pounds or more put pressure on Employee’s low back and right leg and caused her to have pain symptoms.  Dr. Thompson stated, “Employee’s preexisting conditions are the substantial cause of her need for treatment.”  (Letter from Dr. Thompson to Jody Jones, February 23, 2010.)  Dr. Lipon opined Employee’s current low back and right leg conditions are solely due to non-work related causes.  His opinion was based on Employee experiencing symptoms prior to September 2009.  His opinion offers a more thorough analysis and explanation of the cause of Employee’s low back and right leg symptoms than those of Drs. Bursell and Thompson.  Employee’s testimony she did have low back pain and right leg symptoms, and sought medical treatment for such symptoms, before working for Employer further supports and corroborates Dr. Lipon’s opinion.  Consequently, Employee’s credible testimony and Dr. Lipon’s report are given the most weight on this issue.
A work-related injury may result in temporary disability, and treatment to restore an employee to pre-injury condition, without necessarily being the substantial cause in bringing about the need for all future medical treatment of the underlying condition.  O’Hara v. Carr-Gottstein Foods Safeway Inc., Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 093 at 16 (December 4, 2008).  Here, based on Employee’s credible testimony and Dr. Lipon’s persuasive opinion, Employee’s work related lumbar strain and non-work related meralgia paresthetica were the substantial cause of her need for treatment for her low back and right leg.  Dr. Lipon opined Employee’s strain would be expected to have resolved by December 2, 2009.  While Dr. Bursell does not opine whether Employee reached medical stability with regard to her low back and right knee conditions, on March 17, 2010, Dr. Bursell treated Employee and noted her symptoms had improved.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March 17, 2010).  
Employee’s low back and right leg conditions returned to pre-injury status by December 2, 2009.  Employee’s September 2009 work injury is not the substantial cause of Employee’s need for medical treatment after December 1, 2009 for her low back and right leg complaints and symptoms.  Employee’s underlying degenerative changes and non-work related meralgia paresthetica are the substantial cause of Employee’s need for treatment of her low back and right leg symptoms after December 1, 2009.

Employer paid medical benefits until March 12, 2010.  (Controversion, March 15, 2010; Employee Hearing Brief at 8, August 1, 2011).  Employer has paid all medical benefits due Employee.  Accordingly, her claim for medical benefits for treatment of her low back and right leg will be denied.

3)  Is Employee entitled to additional past TTD benefits?

Employer paid Employee TTD until March 12, 2010.  (Controversion, March 12, 2010; Employee Hearing Brief at 8, August 1, 2011; Compensation Report, January 24, 2011).  Employee seeks TTD benefits from the date TTD was controverted by Employer in reliance upon Dr. Thompson’s report, January 26, 2010, and continuing.  (Employee Hearing Brief at 13, August 1, 2011).  The determination of her entitlement turns in part on factual issues to which the presumption of compensability applies.  

In satisfying the presumption analysis’ first step, and without regard to credibility, Employee testified she was disabled because of her work-related injuries and could not return to her job at the time of injury.  This is adequate evidence to raise the presumption and cause it to attach to her TTD claim.  

Viewing the evidence in isolation, and without regard to credibility, Drs. Thompson and Lipon stated Employee’s inability to return to work is due to her preexisting conditions and not her work injuries.  (EIME Report at 9; SIME Report at 28).  These opinions provide substantial evidence to rebut the presumption, cause it to drop out, and require Employee to prove she was disabled from January 26, 2010 and continuing, by a preponderance of the evidence.

Employee was restricted from returning to work until October 21, 2009, when Dr. Bursell released Employee to light duty work.  (Chart Note, Dr. Perez, September 19, 2009; Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, October 21, 2009).  On October 30, 2009, Dr. Bursell again released Employee to work with restrictions.  (Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, October 30, 2009).  Dr. Bursell restricted her from working for approximately one week in late December, but released her to light duty work again on December 30, 2009.  (Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, December 29, 2009).  On January 7, 2010, Dr. Perez restricted Employee from returning to work until January 12, 2010.  (Report to Employer, Dr. Perez, January 7, 2010).  On February 9, 2010, Dr. Bursell again restricted Employee from returning to work, which he reiterated on March 2, 2010.  (Patient Duty Status Report, Dr. Bursell, February 9, 2010; March 2, 2010).  
On March 11, 2010, Dr. Bursell released Employee to work without restrictions at Employee’s request.  (Work Excuse Form, Dr. Bursell, March 11, 2010; Employee Hearing Testimony).  On March 17, 2010, Dr. Bursell noted Employee was able to work with the pain and had returned to work, although she needed to be careful there.  (Chart Note, Dr. Bursell, March 17, 2010).  Employee’s right knee condition is not yet medically stable.  Employee still suffers severe pain from the work-related aggravation and the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure is expected to return Employee to her pre-injury asymptomatic condition.  Nevertheless, the medical opinions and Employee’s testimony evidence Employee could and did continue to work for Employer from the fall of 2009 through June 2010.  Although Employee had periods of disability prior to March 11, 2010, Employer has paid Employee for these periods of disability.  

Employee testified she stopped working for Employer in June 2010, because of disagreements regarding Employer’s employment practices, but primarily because of her worsening knee pain following her June 2010 surgery.  Although Employee’s June 2, 2010 surgery may have warranted modification of Dr. Bursell’s release to work without restrictions, Employee has not sought or obtained modification of Dr. Bursell’s March 11, 2010 work release as she had previously done for periods of disability before March 2010.  Dr. Harrah’s testimony does not specifically address a period of disability, other than an expected period of disability following the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure.  The only evidence Employee offers to contradict the medical documents, including the opinion of her own physician, is her own testimony she was unable to work.  Greater weight is given to the medical evidence on this issue, including Employee’s treating physician’s statement Employee was able to work with her pain.  With regard to the period from March 11, 2010 to the present, the weight of the evidence does not support an award of TTD benefits.  When considering the record as a whole, Employee has failed to prove her claim for TTD for the period March 11, 2010 to the present by a preponderance of the evidence.

4)  Is Employee entitled to PPI benefits?

The presumption of compensability applies to this factual dispute.  Employee has failed to establish the presumption of compensability for PPI benefits for her low back and right leg symptoms.  Employee relies on Dr. Lipon’s 1% PPI rating in support of her low back claim.  However, Dr. Lipon’s rating is for Employee’s underlying, non-work related low back condition and not for any aggravation of the condition.  Based on Dr. Lipon’s persuasive opinion on this issue, Employee’s work-related low back injury consisted of a strain which resolved by December 2, 2009, without permanent impairment.  Employee has not obtained any other PPI rating for her low back and right leg conditions.  A PPI rating is necessary for obtaining an award of PPI benefits.  Stonebridge Hospitality Associates, LLC v. Settje, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 153 at 10-13 (June 14, 2011).
Even if Employee had attached the presumption of compensability, Employer rebutted the presumption with the opinions of Drs. Thompson and Lipon.  They opined no permanent impairment was attributable to Employee’s low back and right leg conditions.  (EIME Report at 10; SIME Report at 31-32).  Further, the 1% rating given by Dr. Lipon is for Employee’s low back and is not work-related.

Employee has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence she suffered work-related PPI attributable to her low back and right leg conditions.  Employee has not obtained any other PPI rating for these conditions.  By contrast, both Dr. Thompson and Dr. Lipon provided a 0% PPI rating relating to Employee’s work-related low back and right leg conditions.  Viewing the evidence as a whole, Employee failed to meet her burden on this issue.  Her PPI claim for these conditions will be denied.

Employee’s right knee is not yet medically stable and further treatment has been recommended.  Dr. Lipon declined to provide a PPI rating for Employee’s right knee for this reason.  (SIME Report at 31).  Dr. Thompson agreed Employee is not yet medically stable.  (EIME Report at 10).  A PPI rating for Employee’s right knee is premature and jurisdiction over right knee PPI benefits will be retained.
5)  Is Employee entitled to reemployment benefits?

This is a legal question to which the presumption analysis does not apply.  Employee has failed to prove she suffered work-related PPI relating to her low back and right leg conditions.  However, Employee’s right knee is not yet medically stable.  Alaska law gives the reemployment benefits administrator (RBA) the right to decide initially if an employee is entitled to an eligibility evaluation and if the employee is eligible for reemployment and retraining benefits.  No such RBA determination has been made in this case.  If Employee wishes to pursue reemployment benefits, she may contact the RBA and make the appropriate request. Employer may raise any appropriate defenses.  Consequently, Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA.
6)  Is Employee entitled to interest on additional past TTD benefits?

Employee has not been awarded additional past TTD benefits.  Employee is not entitled to interest on TTD benefits because Employer has paid Employee all past TTD benefits she was due.

7)  Is Employee entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?

Employer vigorously resisted this case, so fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b) may be awarded.  Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting the most significant and complex claim in this case.  This decision awarding past and future medical benefits for Employee’s knee is a significant benefit to Employee.

Mr. Kalamarides submitted two attorney’s fee affidavits.  The first itemized 45.65 hours of attorney time, at rates of $350.00 and $150.00 per hour for a total of $9,720.00 in attorney’s fees.  The second itemized an additional 25.8 hours of attorney time at rates of $350.00 and $150.00 per hour for a total of $7,570 in additional attorney’s fees and $1,647.03 in costs.  Total attorney’s fees and costs equal $18,937.03.  Subsection .145(b) requires an award of attorney’s fees to be reasonable.  Employer did not object to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rate, hours or costs.  The requested hourly rates and itemized hours for Employee’s attorney’s fees and costs are reasonable.  Although Employee only prevailed on her claim for medical costs and attorney’s fees and costs, the time spent on the unsuccessful claims was de minimis.  See, e.g., Uresco Construction Materials, Inc. v. Porteleki, Alaska Workers’ Comp. App. Comm’n Dec. No. 152 at 14-16 (May 11, 2011).  The primary issue in this case was whether Employee’s work injury was the substantial cause of medical treatment for her right knee, and especially whether the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure is compensable.  Employee was successful on this main issue.  The attorney’s fees affidavits do not reflect any misapplied time.  A significant portion of these fees relate to Dr. Harrah’s deposition, which was a crucial component of Employee’s successful claim for medical benefits.  The affidavits reflect the time expended developing the case would be the same, whether or not the unsuccessful issues had been prosecuted.  Considering the nature, length, and complexity of the case and services performed, the resistance of Employer, and the benefits resulting to Employee from the services obtained, Employee is awarded $17,290.00 in reasonable attorney’s fees and $1,647.03 in costs.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1)  Employee is entitled to past medical treatment and the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure for her right knee symptoms.

2)  Employee is not entitled to medical treatment after December 1, 2009 for her low back and right leg symptoms.

3)  Employee is not entitled to additional past TTD benefits.

4)  Employee is not entitled to PPI benefits for her low back and right leg conditions.  Employee is not medically stable with regard to her right knee and thus a determination on right knee PPI benefits is premature.

5)  Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA.

6)  Employee is not entitled to interest on TTD benefits because Employer has paid Employee all past TTD benefits she was due.

7)  Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDER

1)  Employee’s claim for past medical treatment and the recommended autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure for her right knee symptoms is granted.

2)  Employee’s claim for past and ongoing medical treatment for her low back and right leg symptoms is denied.

3)  Employee’s claim for additional past TTD benefits is denied.

4)  Employee’s claim for PPI benefits for her low back and right leg conditions is denied.  Employee is not medically stable with regard to her right knee condition and thus a determination on right knee PPI benefits is premature.  Jurisdiction over PPI benefits for Employee’s right knee will be retained.

5)  Employee’s entitlement to reemployment benefits, if any, is deferred to the RBA should Employee make an appropriate request to the RBA.

6)  Employee’s claim for interest on past TTD benefits is denied.
7)  Employee’s claim for an award of attorney’s fees and costs is granted.  Employee is awarded $17,290.00 in reasonable attorney’s fees and $1,647.03 in costs.

Dated in Juneau, Alaska on November 17 , 2011.
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Marie Y. Marx, Designated Chair





Bradley S. Austin, Member

DISSENT BY BOARD MEMBER CHARLES M. COLLINS

I respectfully dissent from my fellow panel members’ analysis and conclusions of law.  I find Employee is not entitled to past medical treatment and the autologous chondrocyte implantation procedure for her right knee symptoms for the reasons stated below.

I agree Employee has attached the presumption of compensability with regard to her need for medical treatment of the right knee based upon the opinions of her treating physicians Drs. Bursell and Harrah.  They opined Employee’s job duties and work injury caused Employee’s worsened condition and increased pain.  I also agree Drs. Thompson and Lipon’s reports standing alone rebut the presumption because they present substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing Employee’s need for medical treatment for her right knee.

However, I do not think Employee has proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, her employment aggravated, accelerated or combined with her preexisting condition so as to be the substantial cause in bringing about her need for medical treatment for her right knee.  Dr. Harrah opined if Employee did not have arthritis, she would not have needed treatment for her knee.  He also opined at some point in Employee’s life her arthritis would have become symptomatic even absent the work injury.  Based on the opinions of Employee’s own treating physician, and Dr. Thompson’s persuasive and credible report, I find Employee’s preexisting arthritis is the substantial cause of her need for medical treatment for her right knee.  For these reasons, I would find Employee not entitled to past and future medical care for her right knee.
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Charles M. Collins, Member
APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of CALLI E. OLSEN employee / applicant; v. CITY & BOROUGH OF JUNEAU, employer/defendant; Case No. 200914290; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, on November 17, 2011.





Sue Reishus-O’Brien, Workers’ Compensation Officer
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